
PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 
5500 SCHOFIELD AVENUE 

WESTON, WI 54476 
MONDAY, MAY 8, 2006 - 6:00 P.M. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER  

Vilas Machmueller called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  Members present were Steve 
Meinel, Mary Hancock, Mark Strobel, and DPW Keith Donner.  George Oberlander and Ted 
Banholzer were excused.  Village Trustees Dave Diesen and Mark Maloney were present.  
Village Administrator, Dean Zuleger, Community Development Director, Jennifer Higgins, 
Building Inspector, Al Breu, and Recording Secretary, Valerie Parker were present.  About 20 
audience members were also present. 
 

II.  CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES
A. APRIL 17, 2006 MINUTES 

 
*M/S/P Hancock/Meinel: to approve the Planning Commission Minutes of April 17, 2006. 

 
III. VISITORS
A. NONE 

 
IV. CSM APPROVAL
A. #13-06 KRUEGER/BARNETT:  5313 WILLARD LANE 

Joe Barnett, 8908 Callon Avenue, was present. 
 
Higgins stated this creates three lots from one large lot.  This is zoned RTF, which requires a 
minimum lot size of 15,000 square foot minimum.  All three lots that Barnett is creating are 
over 33,700, which exceeds the minimum lot size requirements.  Public sewer & water service 
is not available to the properties on Willard Lane.  Staff suggested that a proof of perk test be 
listed as a contingency of this approval.  Barnett stated that he has proof of perk from the north 
& south neighbor’s lands (lot 3 & lot 7).  Donner stated that a buyer will most likely ask for the 
perk test anyway.  Donner stated that most likely the lots along Willard Lane will be considered 
too large to be economically served by public sewer and water.   
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Hancock:  to approve CSM #13-06 Krueger/Barnett:  5313 Willard Lane.  
Donner – opposed.  Motion carried. 
 

B. #14-06 HIGGINBOTHAM/REEDY:  CARISBROOKE ESTATES 
Guy Reedy, 5907 Shorey Avenue, was present. 
 
Higgins pointed out the revised CSM that was sent to the members (the second-page legal 
description in their packets had not been updated though).  She then mentioned that the 
Carisbrooke Estates subdivision had never been recorded and that now it is past its 6-month 
deadline to be recorded; so now they have to resubmit their plat to us when they are ready to 
record it.  There are two existing homes here.  Both homes are located in the proposed 
Carisbrooke Estates plat.  They are just reconfiguring the lot lines.  There are separate septic 
systems for each lot, which are not shown on this map.  They are creating L-shaped lots and 
will have to move Lot 2’s driveway so it does not run through Lot 1.  Higgins explained that 
from recent conversations with Chris Reedy, it sounded that they are not ready to proceed with 
the Carisbrooke plat.  Higgins stated that Donner suggested that Reedy’s consider rezoning to 
RR. 
 
Donner questioned Reedy what his plans were.  Reedy stated probably nothing until public 
sewer and water gets closer to the plat.  Donner stated that due to the reconfiguration, he is 



PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 8, 2006  PAGE 2 
 

not sure how the future road for the plat would be provided for?  Reedy stated that there is a 
deed restriction for the new owners saying that this road will eventually be there.  Lot 2 will 
stay in Reedy’s ownership.  Lot 1 is being sold to a relative.  Donner would feel better if there 
was some assurance that a road could go in to serve the plat and avoid a long cul-de-sac.  
Breu stated that any approval should be contingent on Lot 2’s driveway being moved east so 
that it does not run through Lot 1.  Breu stated that this proposed future road could be done as 
an out lot on the plat.  Donner stated that he would feel better if it were rezoned to RR, since 
they most likely will not use public services, but he is concerned with the shallow bedrock.  
Donner asked Mosher his opinion for the future access.  Mosher suggested an out lot being 
done. 
Machmueller stated we will deal with the subdivision when the time comes.  Donner is 
concerned if Reedy’s sell Lot 2, the option for the future street will probably be gone. 
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Strobel:  to approve CSM #14-06 Higginbotham/Reedy:  Carisbrooke 
Estates. Contingent on moving the driveway on lot 2 easterly so that it does not cross 
lot 1.  Donner – opposed.  Motion carried. 
 

C. #15-06 MOSHER/DISTRIBUTORS DEVELOPMENT, INC.:  LOTS 9-13, 1ST ADDITION 
TO THE WESTON BUSINESS & TECHNOLOGY PARK 
Zuleger explained that this is combining all five of those lots into one. 
 
*M/S/P Strobel/Hancock:  to approve CSM #15-06 Mosher/Distributors Development, 
Inc.:  Lots 9-13, 1st Addition to the Weston Business & Technology Park. 
 

V. SIGN PERMITS
A. REALTY EXECUTIVES OF WAUSAU/SUPER LETTERING & SIGNS/WESTON PARTNERS, 

LLC – WESTON RIDGE CONDOMINIUMS TEMPORARY SIGN PERMIT:  NE CORNER OF 
SCHOFIELD AVENUE & RYAN STREET 
Higgins stated this is just changing the face of the current temporary sign that is out there.  
Staff recommends approval with a sunset of one year from Village Board approval or all units 
are sold, whichever occurs first. 
 
*M/S/P Hancock/Meinel:  to approve Realty Executives of Wausau/Super Lettering & 
Signs/Weston Partners, LLC – Weston Ridge Condominiums Temporary Sign Permit:  
NE Corner of Schofield Avenue & Ryan Street, contingent on a sunset of one year from 
Village Board approval or all units are sold, whichever occurs first. 
 

B. GRAPHIC HOUSE/ASPIRUS WESTON CLINIC – MRI OF WAUSAU PERMANENT SIGN 
PERMIT:  4005 COMMUNITY CENTER DRIVE 
Higgins stated this sign meets the requirements.  Staff recommends approval. 
 
*M/S/P Strobel/Meinel:  to approve Graphic House/Aspirus Weston Clinic – MRI of 
Wausau Permanent Sign Permit:  4005 Community Center Drive. 
 

C. ABBY BANK MULTI-TENANT PERMANENT SIGN PERMIT:  2405 SCHOFIELD AVENUE 
Pat McCrackin, Abby Bank, 2405 Schofield Avenue, Chris Helwig, Design Unlimited, 303 W. 
Upham, Suite 100, Marshfield, WI  54449, and Steve Barry, Jones Sign Co., 1711 Scheuring 
Road, De Pere, WI  54115, were all present. 
 
Higgins stated that Abby Bank has signed on to the Damon Farber guidelines; therefore, the 
message board sign is not allowed.  She stated that Planning Commission set precedence by 
denying Kwik Trip’s proposed message board sign in 2005.  Staff has two options for Planning 



PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 8, 2006  PAGE 3 
 

Commission to consider. Planning Commission could either have Abby Bank start over with 
their sign plan, or approve this sign plan without the message board.  Higgins stated that Abby 
Bank was informed about no message boards, but put it in their plans anyway.  Zuleger stated 
the only message board sign allowed in TIF #2 is the Ace Hardware message board (which 
was grandfathered in). 
 
Helwig questioned the Planning Commission if the message board is absolutely not an option 
or if the Village just wants them to downsize the sign.  He stated that they have several tenant 
spaces available and this is a way to let the public to know what is available.  Zuleger stated 
that the guidelines say no message board signs, so there are no exceptions (which includes no 
time & temperature signs).  Higgins stated the rest of the sign is fine.   
 
McCrackin requested that we look at the plans again and reconsider the message board.  He 
then handed out some research that he printed off from the internet.  He feels it is not right for 
the Village to deny businesses this privilege and that we are putting businesses at a 
disadvantage.  He wants us to look at this topic again in the near future, because we will start 
seeing more and more businesses with this request.  
 
*M/S/P Hancock/Donner:  to approve Abby Bank – Abby Bank Multi-Tenant Permanent 
Sign Permit:  2405 Schofield Avenue, without the message board. 
 

D. REALTY EXECUTIVES OF WAUSAU/KARL & CHERYL MATTHEWS – LINDEN GROVE 
SUBDIVISION TEMPORARY SIGN PERMIT:  5807 WESTON AVENUE 
Higgins stated this is a temporary sign for the Linden Grove subdivision that is in preliminary 
plat phase and is still waiting on approval of 208 sewer service boundary amendment.  She 
pointed out that there were a few typos on the sketch of the proposed sign, and the developer 
said that it has been corrected.  Staff recommends approval, contingent on the sign being 
located at least 5 feet from the property line and with a sunset date for its removal of one year 
from Village Board approval or at the time all lots are sold, whichever occurs first. 
 
*M/S/P Donner/Strobel:  to approve Realty Executives of Wausau/Karl & Cheryl 
Matthews – Linden Grove Subdivision Temporary Sign Permit:  5807 Weston Avenue 
per staff recommendation, contingent on the sign being located at least 5 feet from the 
property line and with a sunset date for its removal one year from Village Board 
approval or at the time all lots are sold, whichever occurs first. 
  

VI. RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS/HOME OCCUPATION PERMITS
A. NONE 
 
VII. SITE PLAN REVIEW
A. CENTRAL WISCONSIN ENGINEERS & ARCHITECTS/DC EVEREST SCHOOL DISTRICT – 

WESTON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL BUS DRIVEWAY PROJECT:  4300 STERNBERG 
AVENUE 
Higgins stated they will be relocating the bus drop-off site to the Sternberg Avenue side and 
expanding their parking lot.  Staff has contacted Central Wisconsin Engineers & Architects 
regarding the contingencies of vertical curb being used (instead of mountable curb), all 
castings be stamped with “Dump no waste – drains to river”, and that the Operation & 
Maintenance plan be changed to require that inspection & cleaning records be required to be 
on file indefinitely. 
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Strobel:  to approve the site plan for Central Wisconsin Engineers & 
Architects/DC Everest School District – Weston Elementary School Bus Driveway 



PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 8, 2006  PAGE 4 
 

Project:  4300 Sternberg Avenue, contingent on vertical curb being used along 
sidewalks (instead of mountable curb), all castings be stamped with “Dump no waste – 
drains to river”, and that the Operation & Maintenance plan be changed to require that 
inspection & cleaning records be required to be on file indefinitely.  Hancock abstained. 
 

B. MIDWEST AMUSEMENTS/OLSON & OLSON, LLC – PROPOSED CAR LOT:  5606 
MUNICIPAL STREET 
Higgins stated that she talked with Richard Olson regarding this paving plan.  They still need 
their plans for drainage & lighting to be done.  Olson requested that we pull this item off 
tonight’s agenda, where he can come back in June with more complete plans. 
 

C. WANTA & SONS INC./RYAN DEVELOPMENT LLC – ROLAND MACHINERY BUILDING 
ADDITION:  9808 WESTON AVENUE 
Higgins stated this is adding on to an existing M1 business on Weston Avenue.  There will be 
three additions to the building.  No additional lighting or landscaping is being done.  Staff 
recommends approval. 
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Hancock:  to approve the site plan for Wanta & Sons Inc./Ryan 
Development LLC – Roland Machinery Building Addition:  9808 Weston Avenue. 
 

D. WESTON WAREHOUSING & LEASING, INC./UNITED STRUCTURES, INC. – WESTON 
WAREHOUSING DRAINAGE & LIGHTING PLAN:  7005 RICKYVAL STREET 
Higgins stated Planning Commission reviewed and approved the site plan last month, but we 
still needed to review the drainage & lighting plans.  The drainage and lighting plans have now 
been submitted and all meet the requirements from staff.  All contingencies have been 
satisfied. 
 
*M/S/P Donner/Hancock:  to approve Weston Warehousing & Leasing, Inc./United 
Structures, Inc. – Weston Warehousing Drainage & Lighting Plan:  7005 Rickyval Street.  
Meinel abstained. 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
A. JENNIFER & MICHAEL RITZEL/BULL SHOOTERS SALOON, LLC – DISCUSSION OF 

TAVERN LOCATION IN AN INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT:  7410 ZINSER STREET 
Michael Ritzel, N600 County Road D, Birnamwood, was present. 
 
Zuleger stated that we had a request for a liquor license from Ritzel at the May 1st Village 
Board Meeting.  Ritzel is looking at the RR property at 7410 Zinser Street, just south of PGA 
Plumbing’s property.  Zuleger wanted Planning Commission to see this to be sure this is a 
good fit since this property location is in an area that is being looked at for the future 
expansion of the Business & Technology Park (light industrial). 
 
Ritzel stated that he spoke with the surrounding neighbors.  He stated that Clifford Mashuda 
does not want to develop his property anytime soon, and that Mashuda does not want it to go 
manufacturing.  Ritzel explained that his proposed tavern will be an entertainment facility.  
They will bring in well-known Country music bands.  Ritzel stated that they are not looking for 
any weekday business, that this business will be primarily during the weekends.  He stated 
that there will be Country bands on Friday & Saturdays and polka bands on Sundays.  Zuleger 
discussed how originally the Village was going to use Mashuda’s pond for drainage.  He 
pointed out the golf course & driving range south of the property that Ritzel is interested in.  
Zuleger stated that Gary Geurndt is not objecting to this business.  Higgins stated that a 
rezone needs to be applied for and they would have to request going from RR to BP.   Zuleger 



PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 8, 2006  PAGE 5 
 

stated that Guerndt is going to retain architectural review of Ritzel’s building so that if the bar is 
not successful, that the building can be converted to industrial. 
 
Machmueller advised Ritzel to continue to follow Zuleger’s advice.  No action was taken on this 
item. 
 

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
A. TDI ASSOCIATES/WESTON PARTNERS, LLC – REVISED WESTON RIDGE 

CONDOMINIUM PLAT:  NE CORNER OF RYAN STREET & SCHOFIELD AVENUE 
Higgins stated this plat was approved a number of months back.  On the advice of the realtors, 
Weston Partners are decreasing the number of units out there (from 16-unit condos to 6 and 4-
unit condos).  The landscaping, utility, and drainage plans have been revised and staff has no 
objections. 
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Donner:  to approve TDI Associates/Weston Partners, LLC – Revised 
Weston Ridge Condominium Phase I Plat:  NE Corner of Ryan Street & Schofield 
Avenue. 
 

B. LHM SURVEYING/STAN BUDLESKI – CLEARVIEW HEIGHTS REVISED PRELIMINARY 
PLAT REVIEW:  EAST OF CLEARVIEW DRIVE, WEST OF CTH-J, AND NORTH OF 
SKRZYPCHAK LANE (TOWN OF WESTON) 
Stan Budleski, 6505 Old Costa Lane, was present. 
 
Higgins brought up the e-mail (attached) that Milt Olson, Town of Weston Chairman, turned in 
to the Village office.  Olson would like Planning Commission to approve this preliminary plat 
even though we have issues with it.  The Town of Weston will negotiate the right-of-way.  
Machmueller read the e-mail. 
 
Higgins stated the same concerns exist as before (needing documentation to be received for 
the wetland crossing with roads and that the right-of-way should be gained for future access 
out to Skrzypchak Lane). 
 
Mosher stated that he was not involved in the negotiations between the landowners.  He stated 
that his wetland expert (Gary Starzinski) went out and remarked a small area.  He stated that 
they have an agreement with the Army Corps., but they are still waiting for the formal approval 
in writing.  He stated that they might make an outlot.  Mosher stated that they have done 
everything that they could to get their access to Skrzypchak Lane.  He is not sure what else 
they can do.  There was talk about the Town doing condemnation, but he does not think they 
want to go that far.  Mosher clarified to the members that there is 66’ of right-of-way on 
Clearview Drive. 
 
Higgins asked Mosher what the County has said regarding the street names.  Mosher stated 
that the road names have been approved by County planning.  Higgins suggested that the 
small road stub be called something other than Clearview Lane. 
 
Machmueller suggested we approve this based on Olson’s statement.  Zuleger stated we 
should require that if the Town can not get right-of-way out to Skrzypchak Lane that they make 
sure fire & rescue trucks and a snow plow can turn around in there. 
 
Mosher discussed the history on the planning of this property.  Mosher stated that they could 
at least position the street so that it could eventually be extended to Skrzypchak Lane, but 
does not think we should restrict them on the length of a dead-end street.  Stan would like to 



PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 8, 2006  PAGE 6 
 

see the road go through.  It was discussed that this will be part of the developer’s agreement.  
Mosher explained his reason for the temporary cul-de-sac, and that he will make it a 
permanent cul-de-sac if we require it. 
 
It was discussed that the weight of our approval is the ability to get a snowplow and fire & 
rescue service (which comes from the Village).  It was discussed that our approval should be 
contingent on the Town getting the right-of-way in there. 
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Hancock:  to approve LHM Surveying/Stan Budleski – Clearview Heights 
Revised Preliminary Plat Review:  East of Clearview Drive, West of CTH-J, and North of 
Skrzypchak Lane (Town of Weston), contingent on the Town and/or the developer 
getting access to the south, to Skrzypchak Lane. Q:  Donner commented on the wetland 
crossing. Budleski stated that Chris Knotts has signed off on the wetland crossing.  
Higgins wanted us to suggest the road name be changed.  Zuleger stated that Higgins 
can talk with the County on the street name. 
 

X. FUTURE MEETING TOPICS 
A. SPECIAL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING SCHEDULED FOR TUESDAY, MAY 30TH, 

AT 6:00 P.M. 
Higgins stated this is just an FYI to the members of our special meeting for the proposed 
Ghidorzi project on Barbican Avenue.  We will review site plan and a rezone request at this 
special meeting. 
 
Higgins stated that Machmueller needs to appoint three Planning Commission members to the 
Joint Extraterritorial Zoning Committee at the special meeting on May 30th. 
 
Higgins informed the members that Julie Farnham, URS, is leaving and we will be working with 
MSA on extraterritorial zoning. 
 
Emma & Gerald Hoffman, 4104 E. Everest Avenue, and Patricia Raymond, 6410 Robin Street, 
were present and questioned if our special meeting on May 30th will involve rezoning the 
properties on E. Everest Avenue.  Zuleger answered no, that we are working with the attorney 
on how to do this.  Emma Hoffman questioned if there are two restaurants going up the street 
from there.  Zuleger stated that we are not sure yet.  Zuleger stated that Ghidorzi is looking at 
something comparable to Noodles & Co.  Patricia Raymond questioned if we would be looking 
at rezoning both sides of that block or just on E. Everest Avenue.  Higgins stated that the 
property owners need to initiate a rezone.  She discussed the procedure that will need to occur 
to rezone.  Higgins stated we were looking at April & October as the scheduled months for any 
amendments to our future land use map.  She stated that the members will have a few months 
to review requests that come in. 
 

XI. ADJOURN
 
*M/S/P Meinel/Hancock: to adjourn at 7:20 p.m. 
 

Respectfully, 
 
 
Valerie R. Parker 
Recording Secretary 




	WESTON, WI 54476
	I. CALL TO ORDER
	II.  CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES
	III. VISITORS
	A. #13-06 KRUEGER/BARNETT:  5313 WILLARD LANE
	B. #14-06 HIGGINBOTHAM/REEDY:  CARISBROOKE ESTATES

	V. SIGN PERMITS
	C. ABBY BANK MULTI-TENANT PERMANENT SIGN PERMIT:  2405 SCHOF
	A. NONE
	VII. SITE PLAN REVIEW
	A. CENTRAL WISCONSIN ENGINEERS & ARCHITECTS/DC EVEREST SCHOO




	XI. ADJOURN

